DIVISION III COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON

FILED

No. 34064-3

AUG 1 7 2016

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON

Whitman County Superior Court Case No. 14-3-00042-3
The Honorable Steve Dixon
Superior Court Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

In Re:

ELLEN DONEEN, PETITIONER

V.

JAMES DONEEN, RESPONDENT

Stenzel Law Office
Gary R. Stenzel, WSBA # 16974
Attorney for Appellant
1304 W. College Ave. LL
Spokane, Washington 99201
Stenz2193@comcast.net
(509) 327-2000

I. FACTS

The Doneen's were an elderly couple who had been married since July 1969, for 45 years. RP 15. By anyone's standards this was an extremely long term marriage. Mr. Doneen was a farmer who received money from various sources related to some inherited farm land and work for local farmers. RP 23 lines 5-10, see also e.g. RP 82-84, 269-270 & 281. His land was and is prime dry land wheat ground in Whitman County and when all was said and done, totaled 235.41 acres. RP 187-189. Ms. Doneen worked for JC Penny's in Spokane and with Mr. Doneen for the farm. (RP 17-19, see also RP 73-74, 86-89 for example). Obviously her income from Penny's paid many bills and allowed Mr. Doneen to keep his farm land instead of having to sell it to make ends meet.

The "farm land" that was one of the primary subjects of the case came with a family farm home; the parties used this home for about half of their life together. RP 18-19, & 46. They also fixed that home up during their marriage. RP 98-99. Although the family home was part of the inherited farm land, the parties did express an opinion as to the value of the farm (however, Ms. Doneen's value was rejected by the court as she was neither an "owner" nor an appraiser). Mr. Doneen stated it was worth \$50,000.00 (RP 248), which was later used by the court as its value. CP 069-079. No expert testified at trial as to the home's value. RP generally. There were also various items of personal property, some vehicles, a tractor, and a boat that was valued by testimony from Mr. Doneen. RP 199-200. There were no debts of this marriage. CP 069-079.

The parties also had a lot of different accounts, some of which were inherited from Mr. Doneen's parents and an aunt, Bernard. RP 102-103. Testimony elicited at trial indicated that there were accounts from American Equity, Ameriprise, Guggenheim, AG Edwards & Sons and a few more financial bases. RP 40-67, and 148-149.

Mr. Doneen testified that the "236" inherited acres had a value of \$165,000.00. RP 190. However, the only expert on the valuation issue, the Whitman County head land appraiser, valued the land conservatively at between \$2,000 and \$3,000 an acre, with a midpoint of \$2,500 an acre. RP 272-277. He also testified that similar land in the county was selling "like gangbusters" to big corporations at these values. *Id*.

At the close of argument and testimony, the judge took the matter under advisement and eventually sent out a written decision his ordered distribution of property and debts, without many findings. See CP 068-070. The first set of final papers was entered on the date of June 2nd, 2015. CP 076-079. Unfortunately, Mr. Doneen died of a heart attack on the date of June 9th, 2015. See CP 091-096. Ms. Doneen did not know about his death, and filed a Motion for Reconsideration as to the issues of maintenance and the disproportionate distribution of property, given the length of their marriage, on Monday June 11, 2015. CP 080-084. Then, although knowing about Mr. Doneen's death, his trial attorney filed a motion for reconsideration as well, also on the date of June 11, 2015. CP 085. Ms. Doneen objected to this motion since when it was filed, his attorney had no client, and did not request a substitution of the estate under CR 25. CP 097. Ms. Doneen's

objection came in the form of a motion to strike that motion for reconsideration See CP 097-098.

The court eventually heard the competing motions, denied the motion to strike and the wife's motion for reconsideration and partially granted the "Petitioner's" motion for reconsideration as outline in the new Decree on Reconsideration. CP 116-124. This final amended distribution was as follows:

Property to be awarded to Ms. Doneen:

- 1. 2006 Mazda \$3,325;
- 2. White truck \$1,200;
- 3. Dodge Lancer \$ \$2,000;
- 4. US Bank account \$1,697;
- 5. Amer West account \$ 2,420;
- 6. MFS account \$4,034;
- 7. STCU account \$2,111;
- 8. Amer Equity account 021-\$81,250;
- 9. STCU savings \$135;
- 10. Any pension or social security she earned;
- 11. Amer Equity account 976 \$225,000 of that account;
- 12. Loan to his daughter (unknown amount)

Pet. Final Total - \$323,172

Property to be awarded to Mr. Doneen:

- 1. Tractor \$2,000;
- 2. 1970 International \$500;
- 3. GMC pickup \$1,500;
- 4. 1987 Plymouth \$500;
- 5. Horse trailer \$500;
- 6. Bailer \$200;
- 7. Shop tools & welder \$5,800;

- 8. Compressor/drill press \$250;
- 9. Boat \$24,000;
- 10. Thunderbird unkown value;
- 11. Any pension or social security he earned;
- 12. All of US Bank accounts 4069 & 2477 to date of trial (no value determined);
- 13. Residence & farm land located in Whitman County, Washington (residence at \$50,000, Shop at \$25,000, acreage at \$2,500 per acre);
- 14. Disc, nominal value;
- 15. Ameriprise account \$21,755;
- 16. First Invest. account \$6,299;
- 17. Guggenheim account \$14,928;
- 18. Wels Fargo account \$10,017;
- 19. Amer Eq account 976 \$20,578 (\$245,578 minus \$225,000 to wife);
- 20. Amer Eq account 972 \$72,694;
- 21. Amer Eq account 489 any remaining balance;
- 22. Amer Eq account 682 \$7.964;
- 23. Amer Eq account 483 \$7,240;
- 24. Amer Eq account 642 \$2,353;
- 25. Amer Eq account 029 \$7,580.

Sub-Total Amt = \$281,658 w/o land

Land = \$588,525

Resp. Final Total - \$870,183

Maintenance was also not ordered. See CP 116-124. The granting of the deceased Respondent's motion for reconsideration had a net effect on the Petitioner as follows: Mr. Doneen was awarded the Tractor (\$2,000.00) and all of the amounts in the U.S. Bank accounts 4069 and 2477 as opposed to half in the original decree.

II. Assignments of Error¹

It is the Appellant's contention that the Judge errored in the following manner:

- By failing to leave both parties in a somewhat equal financial situation at the end of the case, even though they had an extremely long term marriage;
- By failing to recognize that the deceased Respondent's trial attorney had
 no client when he filed the motion for reconsideration "on behalf of Mr.
 Doneen";
- 3. By failing to strike the Respondent's trial attorney's motion for reconsideration in the face of his filing that reconsideration motion two days after his client died, and there was no attempt to have the court sign even an ex-parte emergency order substituting Mr. Doneen's estate under CR25 before accepting the belated motion for reconsideration.
- 4. By exacerbating the disparate property division by granting reconsideration for the Respondent's estate's position;
- 5. By failing to outline in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law the basis for such a disproportionate distribution, i.e. 27% Ms. Doneen versus 73% Mr. Doneen, even though the length of the marriage was very long term (46 years) and both parties had health problems;

¹ The Appellant would have noted error regarding the issue of maintenance, however, given Respondent's death, that issue is moot.

 By entering deficient Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law regarding the property distribution and why it was ordered the way it was ordered.

III. Law and Argument

A. The case of *In re Marriage of Rockwell* and others stand for the proposition that any marriage over 25 years is a long term marriage and that the trial judge has an "ultimate duty" to put both parties in roughly equal financial positions for the rest of their lives in their decision.

Although it is clearly understood that a trial judge has broad discretionary powers in a dissolution of marriage case (See In re Marriage of White, 105 Wn.App. 545, 549, 20 P.3d 481 (2001)); however, in a case involving a long term marriage of 25 years or more, the trial judge's discretion is much different than a shorter termed marriage, in such a case the judge where the judge is faced with a long-term marital dissolution matter he or she is directed to place both parties in roughly equal financial positions for the rest of their lives. In re Marriage of Rockwell, 141 Wn.App. 235, 170 P.3d 572 (Div. 1 2007); see also e.g. Washington Family Law Deskbook, § 32.3(3) at 17 (2d. ed. 2000); and Sullivan v. Sullivan, 52 Wash. 160, 164, 100 P. 321 (1909); stand for the proposition that the court has an "ultimate duty to make a fair and equitable division under all the circumstances" when there is a long term marital dissolution matter before them. In addition, our courts have almost put this on a continuum in that the longer the marriage, the more the court should try and equalize their financial situations, especially if they are both unemployed and have health problems. Finally, when applying the Rockwell and Sullivan

standards, all property is before the court for distribution. *In re Marriage of Farmer*, 172 Wn.2d 616, 625, 259 P.3d 256 (2011).

In this case, there is no question that this was a "long term marriage" (45 years, see RP 4), both parties also had health problems. Ms. Doneen, had blood clots and could not even mow her lawn, nor work a job anymore. See RP 15, 53, & 106. Mr. Doneen had had heart attacks and was a cancer survivor, but thought he was "capable". See RP 173.

This case had what appears to be more separate property than community, although many of the alleged separate property accounts were in both names. See RP's generally. Nevertheless, Mr. Doneen was awarded \$870,000+ in property value (conservatively), plus the home the parties had lived in for years and a lot of personal property of value, versus \$323,000+ for Ms. Doneen, who was left without a home. CP 69-79. This extensively uneven financial distribution takes on a very telling perspective when the only land appraiser testified that the largest piece of property (which was awarded to Mr. Doneen) was easily sold for up to \$3,000.00 an acre. When the highest value of this land and structures is added to the other cash and assets that the judge gave to Mr. Doneen, his total property would be worth just under 1 million dollars or \$986,658.00.

The judge provided no reasoning for not attempting to "equalize" their financial situations, other than a hint that he gave Ms. Doneen cash from Mr. Doneen's "separate property" accounts. CP 068-070. He did not explain why their respective financial positions were not even attempted to be even roughly equalized. *Id.* It was as if the judge considered this as a probate or will contest

where Mr. Doneen was going to receive his separate property ground and property without even considering the impact on Ms. Doneen's future and past efforts to support this marriage during their 45 years together.

As indicated, now Ms. Doneen lost a home to live in she would have to use a lot of her cash for a place to live, while Mr. Doneen had little impact on his lifestyle.

Ms. Doneen feels that this distribution is an unfair distribution that did not by any stretch of the imagination meet the *Rockwell* case standards, under the facts of this case. This decision should be remanded to order a more equalized distribution of assets and cash.

B. When Mr. Doneen died his trial attorney was automatically without authority to act for his former deceased client.

When a party dies during a case, their current attorney is left without an individual to represent. *See e.g. Barker v. Mora*, 764 P.2d 1014, 52 Wn.App. 825 (Wash.App. Div. 1 1988). The court rule CR 25 deals with what to do when a party dies during a case and is very clear as to what needs to be done to keep the case alive. Section 1 of this court rule indicates that someone on behalf of the deceased's estate can file a motion to have the estate substituted for the deceased so that any motions can be filed. This was not done in this case and so the Respondent's trial attorney was without any authority to file anything on behalf of the deseased. *Id.*

Upon the death of Mr. Doneen this case was abated (unless a CR 25 order is entered). See *e.g. In re Gordon v. Hillman*, 109 Wash. 223, 232-33, 186 P. 651 (1919); and *Barker v. Mora*, 764 P.2d 1014, 52 Wn.App. 825 (Wash.App. Div. 1

1988) which said, "[at] common law, all actions pending abate upon the death of a necessary party. If the cause of action was one that did not survive, death finally ended the action; but if a cause of action was one that did survive, a new action by or against the personal representative of the deceased party was necessary to prosecute the remedy," obviously referring to CR25. *Id.* (emphasis added).

C. Since no CR25 order substituting the estate for Mr. Doneen in this case was entered on Monday June 11, 2016, there was no party to file the reconsideration motion that day, therefore, it could not be considered timely under the rules and, since the entire case abated upon his death, and the final decree was entered after his death, the amended decree was of no affect.

CR 59 requires that a motion for reconsideration be filed on or before 10 days have expired since the date of entry of the final orders. Section (b) states:

(b) Time for Motion; Contents of Motion. A motion for a new trial or for reconsideration shall be filed not later than 10 days after the entry of the judgment, order, or other decision. The motion shall be noted at the time it is filed, to be heard or otherwise considered within 30 days after the entry of the judgment, order, or other decision, unless the court directs otherwise. A motion for a new trial or for reconsideration shall identify the specific reasons in fact and law as to each ground on which the motion is based.

The filing of a Motion for Reconsideration is to be done within 10 days after the final orders are entered. Since Mr. Doneen no longer was alive, no one but his estate could file such a motion pursuant to CR 25. As indicated earlier, this required a order to be entered allowing the substitution of the estate in, within that time frame. Such a motion likely would not have been objected to even if it was done by phone long distance. (See CP records generally) However, this was not

done in a timely manner; therefore, the Respondent's trial attorney was without authority to unilaterally file this reconsideration motion.

Case law on Rule 59 motions is very specific and if the proper procedure is not followed there is no basis for the motion, since strict compliance is required. For example, filing a Motion for Reconsideration based simply on the date of a memorandum opinion early does not trigger the 10 days' requirement. *See e.g. In re Marriage of Tahat*, 334 P.3d 1131, 182 Wn.App. 655 (Wash.App. Div. 3 2014).

The next question is whether or not the Respondent's trial attorney, having a signed declaration by his former client, gave his attornrey the right to file his declaration with a motion on the 11th. The answer to this question is no, since on the 11th, the attorney had no client to file this motion for and had no authority to do so. Therefore, this motion for reconsideration was ineffective to accomplish what they had originally intended, and should never have been allowed by the court. Since the entire reconsideration motion granted only what Mr. Doneen's trial attorney argued in their motion for reconsideration, all of those decree modifications should be stricken and have not been ordered.

IV. Conclusion

This was a long term marriage of 45 years. They acquired over 1.3 million dollars in land, property and cash, not counting social security benefits. The court gave Ms. Doneen about 25% of this property, leaving her without a place to live, ill health, and only enough money to possibly buy a new house. While the husband Mr. Doneen received over 75% of the property which included liquid assets, a large expensive boat, 235.41 acres of prime Whitman County wheat land worth as much

as \$700,000.00, and which was highly marketable, along with a lot of cash and the home the family occupied for half of their marriage.

Ms. Doneen requests that the court rectify this decision and order a more equal division to place the parties on substantially the same economic plane for the rest of their lives. Additionally, the Appellant asks the court to vacate any orders entered granting any reconsideration motion filed by Mr. Doneen's trial attorney, allegedly for him, since he died two days before that reconsideration was filed, and no CR25 order was entered allowing that motion to be timely filed.