I. BRIEF RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. There is no statute or case law that requires a Trial Court to set 

aside its broad discretion to place parties in an equal financial situation at 

the end of a case. Further, the Court here disproportionally divided the 

community in favor Ms. Doneen in addition to awarding part of Mr. 

Doneen' s separate property to Ms. Doneen. This was extensively reviewed 

during argument held for reconsideration. RP 318-347. 

2. Mr. Doneen signed his declaration in support of his Motion for 

Reconsideration prior to his death. Any consideration of either party's 

Motion for Reconsideration is harmless error and supported by long

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

family, the Trial Court correctly determined both the separate property 

character of the family farm and its distribution solely to Mr. Doneen (and 

his subsequent next of kin). This result was clearly within contemplation 

of an equitable distribution of property subject to the divorce. 

(2) Konzen v. Konzen, 103 Wn.2d 470, 472, 693 P.2d 97 0985), 

Provides Guidance that While Separate Property is No 

Longer Entitled to Special Treatment it Does Not Go So 

Far as to Throw Out the Nature and Characterization of 

Property Regardless of Length of Marriage. 

In Konzen, Mr. Konzen and Ms. Konzen were awarded community 

property approximately equally. Konzen v. Konzen, 103 Wn.2d 470,472, 

693 P .2d 97 (1985). However, the trial court also awarded Ms. Konzen 

thirty percent (30%) of Mr. Konzen's military retired pay, his separate 

property, due to the economic circumstances of the parties. Id. at 4 72. The 
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court indicated that it preferred to allocate this separate property over the 

community property because the military retired pay was a more liquid 

asset. Id The court held that whereas before the character of the property 

could be controlling, such that separate property could only be awarded 

under exceptional circumstances, now the character of the property was 

just a relevant factor. Id at 477-78. The court found no abuse of discretion 

for the separate property allocation. Id at 478. While separate property is 

no longer granted special treatment, Washington courts have not gone so 

far as to eliminate the distinction between separate and community 

property. See id In fact, the courts must consider both the nature and 

extent of the community property, and the nature and extent of the 

separate property. Id 

In Konzen, the court only dipped into Mr. Konzen' s separate 

property because it was more liquid and due to the economic 

circumstances of the parties. In regards to Mr. Doneen's separate property, 

the trial court provided Ms. Doneen with Mr. Doneen's more liquid 

American Equity annuity as opposed to splitting up Mr. Doneen's farm. 

CP 68-70. 

Further, the Konzen court indicated that it only dipped into Mr. 

Konzen's separate property because of the liquidity, implying that had the 
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community property retained more liquid assets, the court would have 

awarded a disproportionate share of the community property rather than 

part of Mr. Konzen's separate property. This further implies that courts 

still consider separate property as less subject to distribution than 

community property. This is perfectly in line with the decision of the trial 

court in the instant case: the trial court distributed the community property 

heavily in favor of Ms. Doneen, and provided a substantial portion of Mr. 

Doneen's own separate property to Ms. Doneen. CP 68-70. Like the court 

in Konzen provided Ms. Konzen with separate property only as a matter of 

liquidity, the trial court here provided Ms. Doneen with a certain part of 

Mr. Doneen's separate property because of the American Equity annuity's 

liquidity. 

Moreover, the court in Konzen awarded a portion of separate 

property due to Ms. Konzen's disadvantageous position, and Mr. Konzen 

still received more total property, yet the court found no abuse of 

discretion. Ms. Konzen in Konzen was not provided an equal amount of 

property in total despite being in a lesser economic position than Mr. 

Konzen because separate property is still distributed in favor of the 

separate property's owner as much as equity allows. 
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As such, the trial court properly considered the character of Mr. 

Doneen's separate property, and properly distributed Mr. Doneen's 

separate property in terms that it felt were most equitable given the totality 

of the property and the nature of the property, separate or community. 

(3) Ms. Doneen's Reliance on her Case on Point, In re Marriage 

of Rockwell, is Misplaced Because the Facts are 

Distinguishable from the Instant Case. 

Ms. Doneen contends that In re Marriage of Rockwell stands for 

the proposition that courts should put two parties in a long-term marriage 

of twenty-five (25) years or more in equal financial positions; this in 

contravention with trial court's broad discretionary powers. 

In Rockwell, the court considered an appeal from Peter Rockwell 

(Mr. Rockwell) that contested the lower court's ruling dividing the 

community property portion of Carmen Rockwell's (Ms. Rockwell) 

pension sixty percent (60%) in her favor and forty percent (40%) in Mr. 

Rockwell's. In re Marriage of Rockwell, 141 Wn.App. 235,241, 170 P.3d 

572 (2007). Mr. and Ms. Rockwell were married for twenty-six (26) years. 

Id. at 239. Finding that Mr. Rockwell was eight (8) years younger and 

healthier than Ms. Rockwell, and had a future earning potential greater 

than Ms. Rockwell's, the court found no abuse of discretion awarding the 
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unequal division of community property in favor of Ms. Rockwell. Id at 

255. The court also decided to use the time rule method as opposed to the 

subtraction method in dividing the pension because Washington courts 

have only used the time rule method and it more fairly valued Ms. 

Rockwell's pre-marriage efforts. Id. at 254. This changed the pension to 

the following proportions (wherein a 60/40 split of the community portion 

in favor of Ms. Rockwell would occur): 

Before After 
Community Property 92% 62% 
Separate Property 8% 38% 

Id. at 253. The court decided Ms. Rockwell would continue to keep all her 

separate property, such that Mr. Rockwell was now only receiving twenty

four percent (24%) of the gross pension with the time rule method as 

opposed to thirty-seven percent (3 7%) with the original subtraction 

method. Id. at 241, 253. 

Unlike how Mr. Rockwell was in a better financial position than 

Ms. Rockwell in Rockwell, Mr. Doneen and Ms. Doneen were both 

retired, living on relatively equal and limited gross monthly incomes of 

about $1,900 and $1,100 respectively, and the victims of multiple health 

problems. RP 21, 24-25, 230-231. In fact, the trial court in the instant case 

still distributed the community property unequally, favoring Ms. Doneen, 
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and even dipped into Mr. Doneen's separate property, despite their similar 

economic circumstances. CP 68-70. 

Ms. Doneen's argument that she should receive even greater share 

of community or separate property despite their similar economic 

circumstances does not logically follow from Rockwell. Ms. Doneen uses 

Rockwell, a case where the wife was in a disadvantageous economic 

position in comparison to the husband, to establish her proposition that 

she, standing in a similar economic circumstance to her husband, should 

receive a more equal share of all property. The inconsistency that results is 

as follows in Rockwell: were Ms. Rockwell in a worse financial position, 

she would presumably receive more of the community property; however, 

were Ms. Rockwell in a more favorable financial position, she would still 

receive more community property. Ms. Doneen's reasoning would lead to 

a result whereby a disfavored spouse would always receive more property 

regardless of any other factors the Court is to consider. In short, Ms. 

Doneen relies on a case where the court ruled no abuse of discretion for an 

unequal distribution of community property in favor of a lesser 

economically sound spouse; she contends that Rockwell stands for the 

proposition that she, a wife of equal economic standing to her husband, 

should receive a more equal share of all of the property, despite her 

already receiving an unequal distribution of community property in her 
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favor and even part of Mr. Doneen's separate property (Note, 

characterization of any of the property is not at issue in the case at hand). 

Other than the distinguishable facts between Rockwell and the instant case, 

Mr. Doneen's erroneous reasoning further removes Rockwell from the 

instant case. 

Moreover, Ms. Doneen's underlying contention that the court in 

Rockwell changed the property distribution to favor Ms. Rockwell is 

mistaken. The court indicated that the change in the division of property 

was due to a mistake in methodology that Mr. Rockwell advocated for the 

pension, not an abuse of discretion. The court did not change the trial 

court's sixty/forty (60/40) community property division, but rather 

changed the formula applied to the pension division itself, which ended up 

favoring Ms. Rockwell (and actually increasing her separate property 

position). Further, this change was also justified as a matter of placing 

more weight on Ms. Rockwell's pre-marriage efforts. Unlike how Ms. 

Rockwell had pre-marriage efforts to consider, there is no evidence 

regarding Ms. Doneen's prior efforts because there is no dispute regarding 

distribution of Ms. Doneen's pension and Mr. Doneen does not even have 

a pension plan. 
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Ms. Rockwell was already in a disadvantageous position, and was 

compensated through recognition of her pre-marriage efforts. In fact, this 

recognition of pre-marriage efforts was an attempt to ensure Ms. Rockwell 

kept more of her own separate property. 

Here, Ms. Doneen' s use of Rockwell is erroneous and is applied 

broadly in an attempt to find abuse of discretion whereby none exists. The 

trial court in the instant case adequately compensated for Ms. Doneen's 

lack of separate property by awarding Ms. Doneen the majority of the 

community property, and even a part of Mr. Doneen's separate property. 

Ms. Doneen want' s the Appellate Court to go further and force the 

Trial Court to reach further than it already did in awarding part of the 

separate property and the already unequal distribution of community 

property in favor of Ms. Doneen; Rockwell in and of itself does not 

support this reasoning and neither does any other case law. 

Ms. Doneen was not in a disadvantageous position per se, and in 

any case, does not provide a tenable ground for finding an abuse of 

discretion other than she wants more of the separate property in addition to 

the substantially unequal division of community property in her favor. 

Rockwell does not stand for the proposition that a spouse that wants more 

separate property, despite equal economic positions, gets that extra 
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separate property just because the marriage was of significant length. Any 

finding along those lines would firmly remove trial court's broad 

discretionary power to consider equitable distribution in light of ALL 

statutory factors and case law. 

( 4) The Trial Court Considered the Relevant Factors and 

Adequately Supplied Reasons for its Decision, such that it 

was Within the Range of Acceptable Choices. 

A trial court does not abuse its discretion when it ensures the 

financial security or comfortable lifestyle of both parties by considering 

(a) age and future earning potential, and (b) character of the properties. In 

re Marriage of Kim, 179 Wn.App. 232, 253-54, 317 P.3d 555 (2014); In 

re Marriage of Larson and Calhoun, 178 Wn.App. at 145. (c) Further, 

where an appellant fails to provide tenable grounds for modifying the 

distribution, there is no abuse of discretion. See Stachofsky v. Stachofsky, 

90 Wn.App. 135, 147, 951 P.2d 346 (1998). 

(a) Age and Future Earning Potential. 

In considering age and future earning potential, courts look to how 

long each respective party can keep working and how much each can 

make during that time. Kim at 253-54. In Kim, the court found that Mr. 

Kim had over quadruple the earning capacity over Ms. Kim's, and that she 
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would have significantly fewer years in the paid work force than Mr. Kim. 

Id. Because the court considered the parties' financial circumstances, the 

court found no abuse of discretion when the trial court awarded a larger 

percentage of the community's property. Id. at 254. 

Like the court in Kim considered the economic circumstances of 

each party, the trial court in the instant case considered both Mr. Doneen's 

and Ms. Doneen's current and future income, and retirement status. By 

noting that Mr. Doneen and Ms. Doneen had retired, retained future 

incomes amounting to about $1,100 for Ms. Doneen and $1,900 for Mr. 

Doneen, and were seventy-three (73) and seventy-four (74) years of age, 

the trial court employed its broad discretion to provide Ms. Doneen with a 

much larger percentage of the community's property, which is similar to 

the Kim court providing the larger percentage to Ms. Kim. Thus, similar to 

how the court in Kim found no abuse of discretion because the trial court 

considered the age and financial potential of each party to ensure financial 

stability post-marriage, the trial court here considered both factors as well 

to ensure both Mr. Doneen's and Ms. Doneen's financial stability, which 

points to no finding of an abuse of discretion by the trial court. 

(b) Character of the Properties. 
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In considering the character of the properties, when the courts note 

a disparity between the parties, they will provide a larger share of the 

community property to the economically disadvantaged spouse, and 

sometimes dip into the separate property if necessary. Larson, 178 

Wn.App. at 146. In Larson, the court sought to ensure Ms. Calhoun's 

financial security by providing the community asset in whole to Ms. 

Calhoun, assigning the community debt to Mr. Larson, and awarding a 

small portion of Mr. Larson's separate property to Ms. Calhoun. Id. at 

136. The court held that the separate property was provided to ensure Ms. 

Calhoun had a liquid asset, and the community property to ensure Ms. 

Calhoun's long-term finances. Id at 145. The Larson court found no abuse 

of discretion because the trial court considered the character of the 

properties to ensure each party's financial stability. Id 

Like the court in Larson considered the community or separate 

character of the parties' property, the court in the instant case specifically 

awarded property based on its character: an approximate thirty/seventy 

(30/70) ratio for community property in favor of Ms. Doneen, and an 

approximate twenty/eighty (20/80) ratio for separate property in favor of 

Mr. Doneen. 
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Like the court in Larson found no abuse of discretion because this 

consideration was purposed to ensure the financial stability of both parties, 

the court here should find no abuse of discretion because the trial court 

indicated that it provided the disproportionate community award and 

invasion of Mr. Doneen' s separate property to ensure Ms. Doneen 

maintained a comfortable lifestyle.; it did so "[a]s a matter of equity". CP 

70. 

Because the trial court ensured a comfortable lifestyle for Ms. 

Doneen by considering the character of the properties, and the age and 

future earning potential of each party, there was no abuse of discretion by 

the trial court. 

(c) Untenable Grounds/or Modification. 

Because the trial court considered the relevant factors, Ms. 

Doneen's argument essentially boils down to the following: because Ms. 

Doneen did not have equal separate property of her own, she should be 

awarded more of Mr. Doneen's separate property. Whatever muster this 

argument has when a trial court initially considers the distributions, it has 

no bearing on appeal or reconsideration when the trial court has already 

considered that exact situation in reviewing the record. See Stachofsky, 90 
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Wn.App. at 147. In Stachofsky, the court awarded the following to Mr. and 

Ms. Stachofsky: 

Community Property Mr. Stachofsky's 
Separate Property 

Mr. Stachofsky 42% at $1,080,625 100% at $752,892 

Ms. Stachofsky 58% at $1,493,442 0% at $0 

Id at 141. The trial court considered Ms. Stachofsky's income, around 

$10,000 to $15,000 per year, and Mr. Stachofsky's income, around 

$150,000 per year, in order to distribute a majority of the community 

property to Ms. Stachofsky. Id at 147. The appellate court ruled that the 

trial court's community property distribution in favor of Ms. Stachofsky 

was not an abuse of discretion because Mr. Stachofsky's argument of a 

mischaracterization of the stock options was moot because the court would 

have awarded the same amounts in any case, and because the trial court 

properly based its decision on the parties' age, health, work history, length 

of marriage, and post-dissolution economic conditions of the parties. Id 

The appellate court held that Mr. Stachofsky had not established an 

inequitable property division because it was essentially considering the 

same situation the trial court had considered, and Mr. Stachofsky provided 

no tenable grounds for modification. See id 
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Like the court in Stachofsky found no abuse of discretion because 

it was both considering the same exact factors the trial court did and Mr. 

Stachofsky's lack of a tenable inequitable argument, the court here should 

find no abuse of discretion because the trial court has considered Mr. 

Doneen and Ms. Doneen' s age, health, work history, length of marriage, 

and post-dissolution economic conditions. RP generally. In fact, in the 

instant case, the trial court actually considered the factors twice, and still 

came to substantially the same conclusions based on the same 

considerations. RP 318-347. Further, Ms. Doneen has not argued that the 

trial court has not, as a matter of fact, considered the relevant factors; she 

is arguing that in spite of considering the relevant factors, the trial court's 

decision was inequitable. However, the trial court's reviewing the facts of 

the instant case twice, reviewing case law as provided by both respective 

counsel and still arriving at substantially similar distributions indicates 

that it based its decision on tenable grounds and also did not find Ms. 

Doneen's argument tenable as a matter of an inequitable distribution that 

would substantiate reversal of the trial court's decision. 

B. Ms. Doneen was not Prejudiced by the Trial Court's 

Consideration of Mr. Doneen's Motion for Reconsideration Because it 

22 



Reviewed the Earlier Decision as a Whole in any Case as a Result of 

Ms. Doneen's Motion for Reconsideration. 

Even if the trial court's review of Mr. Doneen's motion was an 

error, "an error is harmless if the outcome of the action was not affected." 

Cox v. Lewiston Grain Growers, Inc., 86 Wn.App. 357,370,936 P.2d 

1191 (1997). 

Here, the Court specifically addressed that issue right at the start of 

argument in the reconsideration hearing with by counsel: 

THE COURT: "On the record in Doneen v. Doneen, 14-3-
00042-3. Gentlemen, -- each of you has on a motion for 
reconsideration. And as I've previously told you, I'm of a mind 
to consider both motions, and waive any requirement that they -
should have been filed within a certain time, because of the 
extraordinary circumstances of the respondent's death." RP 318, 
lines 4-11. 

Counsel for both Mr. Doneen and Ms. Doneen stipulated to that 

and argument was held so as to not "waste the court's time" related to any 

procedural issues as stated by Ms. Doneen' s counsel at the reconsideration 

hearing. RP 319, line 3. 

Ms. Doneen's argument for prejudice is fundamentally stating that 

she should not have had any opposition against her reconsideration motion 

due to Mr. Doneen's untimely death. Even if it were the case that the trial 
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court should not have reviewed Mr. Doneen' s motion, the trial court still 

reviewed the earlier decision as a whole with the discretion and authority 

to review the entirety of its ruling. Thus, Ms. Doneen's procedural 

argument is moot because the trial court would have reviewed the earlier 

decision regardless of whether it was considering just Ms. Doneen' s 

motion, or both Ms. Doneen's and Mr. Doneen's motions. 

C. The Trial Court's Consideration of Mr. Doneen's 

Reconsideration Motion was Harmless Error Because Trial Courts 

are Courts of Equity and Properly Addressed the Death of Mr. 

Doneen in Light of His Passing During the Pendency of the Action. 

Ms. Doneen would like the Court to ignore its broad equitable and 

discretionary powers in determining cross motions for reconsideration as 

a procedural weapon to influence the outcome of the domestic case; that 

logic is not rooted in case law and contrary to long standing principals 

held in our Courts of equity. 

As an example, others have tried such maneuvers and failed. In re 

Marriage of Morris, 176 Wn.App. 893, 309 P.3d 767 (2013), provides a 

clear example of such an abusive tactic. There, the Court was faced with 

the question of whether or not the Superior Court lacked authority to 

order postsecondary support and abused its discretion when it ordered 
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postsecondary support based upon the filing of a motion instead of 

following proper procedure and filing a petition to modify child support. 

The Morris court stated [ citing other case law], "Morris claims that 

the harmless error doctrine does not apply where a statute provides that 

the court "shall" do something. However, he cites no authority supporting 

that theory. Further, "[i]t is well established that errors in civil cases are 

rarely grounds for relief without a showing of prejudice to the losing

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